Record of Decision

Trust Acquisition of the 228.04-acre Plymouth Site in Amador County, California, for the Ione Band of Miwok Indians

U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Indian Affairs May 2012

U.S. Department of the Interior

Agency: Bureau of Indian Affairs

Action: Record of Decision for the Trust Acquisition of the 228.04-acre Plymouth Site

in Amador County, California, for the Ione Band of Miwok Indians.

Summary: In November of 2005, the Tribe submitted a fee-to-trust application to the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), requesting that the Department of the Interior (Department) accept trust title to land totaling 228.04 acres in Amador County, California (the Plymouth Parcels). The Ione Band of Miwok Indians (Tribe) plans to construct a gaming facility, hotel, event and convention center, parking facilities, fire station, and a wastewater treatment plant (WWTP).

> The proposed trust acquisition (Proposed Action) was analyzed in an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) prepared pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), under the direction and supervision of the BIA Pacific Regional Office. The Draft EIS (DEIS) was issued for public review and comment on April 18, 2008. After an extended comment period, a public hearing, and consideration and incorporation of comments received on the DEIS, the BIA issued the Final EIS (FEIS) on August 13, 2010. The DEIS and FEIS considered a reasonable range of alternatives that would meet the purpose and need for the proposal, and analyzed the potential effects of those alternatives, as well as feasible mitigation measures.

> With the issuance of this Record of Decision (ROD), the Department announces that the action to be implemented is the Preferred Alternative (Alternative A in the FEIS), which includes acquisition in trust of the 228.04-acre Plymouth Parcels and construction of a gaming-resort complex including a 120,000 square foot casino, 250-room hotel, 1,200-seat event and conference center, parking facilities, fire station, a WWTP, and corresponding mitigation measures including the modified features shown in Figures 5-1 and 5-2 of the FEIS. The Department has determined that this Preferred Alternative will best meet the purpose and need for the Proposed Action, in promoting the long-term economic self-sufficiency, self-determination, and self-governance of the Tribe. Implementing this action will provide the Tribe with a reservation land base and the best opportunity for attracting and maintaining a significant, stable, long-term source of governmental revenue, and accordingly, the best prospects for maintaining and expanding tribal governmental programs to provide a wide range of health, education, housing, social, cultural, environmental and other programs, as well as employment and career development opportunities for its members.

> The Department has considered potential effects to the environment, including potential impacts to local governments and other tribes, has adopted all practicable means to avoid or minimize environmental harm (including the

modified site plans that consolidate parking areas within a multi-story parking structure), and has determined that potentially significant effects will be adequately addressed by these mitigation measures, as described in this ROD. The Department also has determined that the Plymouth Parcels are eligible for gaming because they qualify as "restored lands" for a restored tribe under Section 20 of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.

The decision is based on thorough review and consideration of the Tribe's feeto-trust application and materials submitted therewith; the applicable statutory and regulatory authorities governing acquisition of trust title to land and eligibility of land for gaming; the DEIS; the FEIS; the administrative record; and comments received from the public, federal, State, and local governmental agencies; and potentially affected Indian tribes.

For Further Information Contact:

Mr. John Rydzik Chief, Division of Environmental, Cultural Resources Management and Safety Bureau of Indian Affairs 2800 Cottage Way, Room W-2820 Sacramento, California 95825

Table of Contents

REC	OKD OF DECISION		
TRU	ST ACQUISITION OF THE 228.04-ACRE PLYMOUTH SITE IN AMADOR COUN' CALIFORNIA, FOR THE IONE BAND OF MIWOK INDIANS	IY,	
2 &			
1.0	INTRODUCTION		
	1.1 Summary		
	1.2 Description of the Proposed Action	1	
	1.3 Purpose and Need		
	1.4 Authorities		
	1.5 Procedural Background		
2.0	ANALYSIS OF ALTERNATIVES5		
	2.1 Alternative Screening Process	5	
	2.1.1 Non-Casino Alternatives		
	2.1.2 Alternative Casino Sites	4	
	2.2 Reasonable Alternatives Considered in Detail	6	
	2.2.1 Alternative A - Preferred Casino-Resort Project (Proposed Action)		
	2.2.2 Alternative B – Reduced Casino with Hotel	17	
	2.2.3 Alternative C - Reduced Casino	10	
	2.2.4 Alternative D – Retail Development	17	
	2.2.5 Alternative E - No-Action Alternative	11	
	2.2.5 Atternative is - No-Action Atternative	niverise d.d.	
3.0	ENVIRONMENT IMPACTS AND PUBLIC COMMENTS		
	3.1 Environmental Impacts Identified in the FEIS		
	3.1.1 Land Resources		
	3.1.2 Water Resources		
	3.1.3 Air Quality		
	3.1.4 Biological Resources		
	3.1.5 Cultural Resources		
	3.1.6 Socioeconomic Conditions and Environmental Justice		
	3.1.7 Resource Use Patterns		
	3.1.8 Public Services		
	3.1.10 Indirect Effects		
	3.1.11 Growth-Inducing Effects		
	3.1.12 Cumulative Effects		
	3.1.12 Unavoidable Adverse Effects		
	3.2 Comments on the FEIS and Responses	23	
4.0	ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE(S)	23	
5.0	PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE	23	
6.0	MITIGATION MEASURES	24	
	6.1 Land Resources		

	6.2	Water Resources.	27		
	6.3	Air Quality			
	6.4	Biological Resources.	27		
	6.5	Cultural Resources			
	6.6	Socioeconomic Conditions and Environmental Justice	25 35		
	6.7	Resource Use Patterns			
	6.8	Public Services			
	6.9	Other Values			
	6.10	Mitigation Measures That are Not Adopted			
7.0		GIBILITY FOR GAMING PURSUANT TO THE INDIAN GAMING REGULATOR			
	AC1	***************************************	¥7		
8.0	ACQUISITION OF LAND IN TRUST PURSUANT TO THE INDIAN				
		RGANIZATION ACT			
	8.1	25 C.F.R. § 151.3: Land Acquisition Policy			
	8.2	25 C.F.R. § 151.10(a): Statutory Authority for the Acquisition			
	8.2.1	Legal Analysis of "Under Federal Jurisdiction" in 1934			
	8.2.2	Application of the Two-Part Inquiry to the Ione Band			
	8.2.3	Conclusion	58		
	8.3	25 C.F.R. § 151.10(b): The Need of the Individual Indian or Tribe for Additional			
	0.4	Land			
	8.4	25 C.F.R. § 151.10(c): The Purposes for Which the Land Will Be Used	29		
	8.5	25 C.F.R. § 151.10(e): If the Land to Be Acquired Is In Unrestricted Fee Status, the			
		Impact on the State and Its Political Subdivisions Resulting From the Removal of Land from the Tax Rolls	ά'n		
	8.6	25 C.F.R. § 151.10(f): Jurisdictional Problems and Potential Conflicts of Land Use	W		
•	0.0	Which May Arise	50		
9.0	DECISION TO IMPLEMENT THE PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE60				
•	9.1	The Preferred Alternative Results in Substantial Beneficial Impacts	51		
	9.2	Preferred Project with Reduced Gaming Area (Alternative B) and with Reduced	er as		
	Dis. Jan. 2000	Gaming and No Hotel (Alternative C) Restricts Beneficial Effects	52		
	9.3	Retail Development Alternative (Alternative D) Severely Restricts Beneficial Effects			
	9.4	No-Action Alternative Fails to Meet Purpose and Need for Action			
10.0	SIGN	IATURE	63		

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 SUMMARY

In November of 2005, the Tribe, which is landless, submitted a fee-to-trust application to the BIA, requesting that the Department accept trust title to land totaling 228.04 acres in Amador County, California (Plymouth Parcels). The Tribe plans to construct a gaming facility, hotel, event and convention center, parking facilities, fire station, wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), and associated facilities.

The proposed trust acquisition of the 228.04-acre Plymouth Parcels was analyzed in an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) prepared by the BIA. The Draft EIS (DEIS), issued for public review on April 18, 2008, and the Final EIS (FEIS), issued August 13, 2010. considered various alternatives to meet the stated purpose and need and analyzed in detail potential effects of various reasonable alternatives. With the issuance of this Record Of Decision (ROD), the Department has determined that Alternative A, consisting of the acquisition of trust title to the 228.04-acre site, construction of an approximately 120,000 square foot casino, a 250-room hotel, a 30,000 square foot convention facility, ancillary infrastructure, and mitigation measures presented in Section 5.0 of the FEIS including the modified site plan (Figures 5-1 and 5-2 of the FEIS) is the Preferred Alternative to be implemented. The Department has determined that the Preferred Alternative would best meet the purpose and need for the Proposed Action. The Department also has determined that under Section 20 of IGRA, the Tribe may game on the Plymouth Parcels, once held in trust. because they will qualify as "restored lands" for a restored Tribe. The Department's decision to acquire trust title to the Plymouth Parcels and the Department's determination that the property is eligible for gaming is based on thorough review and consideration of the Tribe's fee-to-trust application and materials submitted there within; the applicable statutory and regulatory authorities governing acquisition of trust title to land and eligibility of land for gaming; the DEIS; the FEIS; the administrative record; and comments received from the public, federal, State, and local governmental agencies; and potentially affected Indian tribes.

1.2 DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED ACTION

Under the Proposed Action, the BIA would accept the 228.04-acre Plymouth Parcels into trust for the Tribe. On the Parcels, the Tribe proposed to develop a gaming facility, a hotel, an event and convention facility, surface parking facilities, fire station, WWTP, and associated facilities. The site plan for the Proposed Action was subsequently updated prior to the release of the FEIS to reduce surface area parking by incorporating a parking structure into project design. The updated site plan was incorporated into the Proposed Action as a mitigation measure in Section 5.2.5 of the FEIS to reduce impacts to waters of the U.S. in response to comments received on the DEIS.

The Plymouth Parcels are located in the northwest part of Amador County approximately 35 miles east of the City of Sacramento, and approximately 17 miles south of the City of Placerville. The property is located immediately adjacent and east of State Route (SR) 49,

¹ A legal description of the Amador Parcels is incorporated by reference from Section VIII of the Tribe's November 2005 fee-to-trust application.

which provides regional access to the area, two and one-half miles north of the junction of SR 16 with SR 49. Eight of the twelve parcels (10.28± acres) are located within the City of Plymouth (City), while the remaining four parcels (217.76± acres) are located on unincorporated land within Amador County. The casino-resort complex would include Class III gaming conducted in accordance with the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA) and Tribal-State Compact requirements and would consist of 65,000 square feet of gaming floor; 35,000 square feet of restaurant and retail facilities and public space; 30,000 square feet of convention and multi-purpose space (with seating for up to 1,200); and an five story, 250-room hotel. In accordance with the updated site plan, approximately 2,965 parking spaces would be provided for the project through a combination of surface parking (1,800) and development of a five-level parking garage (1,165 spaces). The project would be developed in two phases, with the casino and restaurant complex, portions of the surface parking, development of the parking garage, and auxiliary facilities constituting Phase I, and the development of the hotel, convention and conference center, and additional surface parking constituting Phase II.

1.3 PURPOSE AND NEED

In consideration of the present state of the Tribe and its increasing membership, it is necessary that the Tribe regain an ancestral land base upon which it can become self-sufficient. The history of the Tribe and the modern-day needs of the Tribe and its tribal membership provide a strong basis for acquiring lands under 25 U.S.C. § 465, wherein Congress granted to the Secretary of the Interior the authority to acquire lands in trust for Indian tribes.

Without stable economic development, the Tribe will remain unable to meet its need for economic development, self-sufficiency, and self-governance, and will be unable to provide its quickly growing Tribal member population with employment and educational opportunities and critically needed social services.

The purpose and need is as follows:

- Increased employment opportunities for tribal members;
- Improvement of the socioeconomic status of the Tribe; improvement of existing tribal housing; construction of new tribal housing; funding for a variety of social, governmental, administrative, educational, health and welfare services to improve the quality of life of tribal members;
- Capital for other economic development and investment opportunities;
- Restoration of a lost land base;
- Acquisition of land needed to exercise governmental powers; and
- Economic self-sufficiency, thereby eventually removing tribal members from public assistance programs.

The Proposed Action is consistent with the policies underlying the Federal statutory authorities in the Indian Reorganization Act and IGRA, and BIA's implementing regulations,

of promoting meaningful opportunities for economic development and self-sufficiency of the Tribe and its members, and furthering tribal self-governance and self-determination.

1.4 AUTHORITIES

Section 5 of the Indian Reorganization Act (IRA) of 1934, 25 U.S.C. § 465, provides the Secretary of the Interior with general authority to acquire land in trust status for Indian tribes in furtherance of the statute's broad goals of promoting Indian self-government and economic self-sufficiency. If a tribe is seeking to acquire land in trust, it must apply to the BIA and comply with the regulations in 25 C.F.R. Part 151, which implement the Secretary's trust acquisition authority in Section 5 of the IRA. This ROD records the decision by the Department to acquire in trust the 228.04-acre Plymouth Parcels in Amador County, California, for the Tribe.

The IGRA was enacted in 1988 to regulate the conduct of Indian gaming and to promote tribal economic development, self-sufficiency and strong tribal governments. The IGRA generally prohibits gaming on lands acquired in trust after 1988, unless certain exceptions found in Section 20 of IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2719, are met. The Section 20 exceptions are implemented through regulations found in 25 C.F.R. Part 292. Section 20 of IGRA does not provide the Secretary of the Interior with the authority to acquire land in trust; rather, it allows gaming on certain lands acquired in trust after 1988. Because the Tribe has requested that the Plymouth Parcels be taken in trust for gaming, the Tribe must satisfy one of the IGRA Section 20 exceptions before it may game on the property. Here the relevant exception is the "restored lands" exception in Section 20(b)(1)(B)(iii), which allows gaming if the lands are taken in trust as part of "the restoration of lands for an Indian tribe that is restored to Federal recognition." This ROD records the Department's determination that the Plymouth Parcels are eligible for gaming under the "restored lands" exception in IGRA Section 20, such that the Tribe may game on the Plymouth Parcels once they are acquired in trust.

1.5 PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The regulations in 25 C.F.R. Part 151 require compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). Accordingly, the BIA published a Notice of Intent (NOI) in the Federal Register on November 7, 2003 describing the Proposed Action and announcing the BIA's intent to prepare an EIS. The Council on Environmental Quality's Regulations for implementing NEPA require a process referred to as "scoping" for determining the range of issues and alternatives to be addressed during the environmental review of a Proposed Action (40 C.F.R. §1501.7). The scoping process entails a determination of issues by soliciting comments from agencies, organizations, and individuals. A 30-day public comment period began with the publication of the NOI on November 7, 2003 in the Federal Register and ended on December 8, 2003. In addition to accepting written comments, the BIA held a public scoping hearing on November 19, 2003 at the Amador County Fairgrounds in Plymouth to accept comments. Approximately 150 people attended the public hearing and verbal comments were transcribed for the administrative record. During the 30-day NOI comment period, the BIA formally requested Cooperating Agency participation from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), National Indian Gaming Commission (NIGC), California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), the City of Plymouth, and Amador County (County). The USEPA, the NIGC, and the City of Plymouth

Cooperating Agency status and serve as Cooperating Agencies for the development of the EIS. The County declined and Caltrans did not respond to the request.

On January 20, 2004, the BIA published a supplemental NOI in the *Federal Register* to announce an additional public scoping hearing with the comment period beginning on January 20, 2004 and ending on February 20, 2004. The BIA held a second public scoping hearing on February 4, 2004, at the Amador County Fairgrounds in Plymouth. Approximately 130 people attended the second public scoping hearing and verbal comments were transcribed for the administrative record. The issues that were raised during the NOI comment period have been summarized within the Ione Band of Miwok Indians Fee-to-Trust and Casino Project EIS Scoping Report published by the BIA in March 2004.

The DEIS was distributed to federal, tribal, state, and local agencies and other interested parties for a 75-day review and comment period. The CEQ Regulations (40 C.F.R. §1506.10(c)) require that agencies provide at least 45 days for comments on a DEIS, subject to the provisions of 40 C.F.R. § 1506.10(d). The DEIS addressed the issues and concerns summarized within the scoping report. The review and comment period began after the Notice of Availability (NOA) was published in the *Federal Register* on April 18, 2008 and ended on July 2, 2008. The NOA provided the time and location of the public hearing on May 21, 2008, to present the Proposed Action with alternatives to the public, and accept comments. Public notice was also published in *Amador Ledger Dispatch* on April 22 and May 20, 2008. Approximately 113 people attended the public hearing and verbal comments were transcribed for the administrative record.

The BIA received a total of 36 comment letters in addition to the comments received during the public hearing. Public and agency comments on the DEIS received during the comment period, including those submitted or recorded at the public hearing, were considered in the preparation of the FEIS. Responses to the comments received were provided in Appendix Volume III of the FEIS and relevant information was revised in the FEIS as appropriate to address those comments. The NOA for the FEIS was published in the Federal Register on August 13, 2010 (Volume 75, page 49486) (Attachment I of this ROD). Consistent with the BIA NEPA Handbook, the NOA for the FEIS was also published in the local newspaper (The Amador Ledger Dispatch) on August 13, 2010 (Attachment II of this ROD). The 30-day waiting period ended on September 13, 2010. The comments received during this period are included in Attachment III of this ROD. Responses to each agency comment letter (11 received) and public comment letter (7 received) are also provided in Attachment III of this ROD.

In February 2004, the Tribe and the City of Plymouth entered into a Municipal Services Agreement (MSA) for the development of the Plymouth Casino Project. The County of Amador sued the City of Plymouth (with the Ione Band as an intervener and appellant) on the grounds that the City did not comply with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) when approving the MSA. The California Superior Court for the County of Amador invalidated the MSA, finding that the agreement constituted the City's approval of its provision of municipal services such that the MSA was subject to the requirements of CEQA and that the City should have initiated a CEQA review of its decision to enter into the MSA, as the conditions within the agreement required City approvals for infrastructure

improvements that qualified as a "project" under CEQA. The Court did not invalidate the City's authority to enter into another MSA with the Tribe that does not constitute the approval of a "project" under CEQA, and the City retains the authority to enter into such an agreement. The Court of Appeals for the Third Appellate District upheld the Superior Court's decision on April 17, 2007. See County of Amador v. City of Plymouth, 149 Cal. App. 4th 1089 (3d Dist. 2007). The Tribe petitioned the California Supreme Court for review of that decision, but its Petition for Review was denied on July 11, 2007, rendering the Court of Appeal's decision final. Accordingly, the original MSA is now invalid, but the Tribe remains willing to negotiate with the City for a new agreement.

2.0 ANALYSIS OF ALTERNATIVES

2.1 ALTERNATIVE SCREENING PROCESS

Consistent with the relevant BIA authorities and policies that promote Indian self-government, self-determination, economic self-sufficiency, and tribal economic development, a range of possible alternatives to meet the purpose and need were considered in the EIS, including non-casino alternatives, alternative development configurations, and alternative sites. As described above, the purpose and need for the project is to create a federally-protected land base for the Tribe on which it can engage in the economic development necessary to fund tribal government programs, provide employment opportunities for its members, and allow the Tribe to become economically self sufficient and achieve self determination. Alternatives, other than the No Action Alternative, were first screened to see if they met the purpose and need of the BIA and the Tribe. Remaining alternatives were selected for the EIS largely based on three criteria: 1) providing an adequate and reasonable range of alternatives; 2) feasibility; and 3) ability to reduce environmental impacts.

2.1.1 Non-Casino Alternatives

The EIS evaluated the following non-gaming alternatives: (1) a retail development center and (2) the No-Action Alternative. The proposed retail development center was analyzed in detail as Alternative D in the EIS. A No-Action Alternative was analyzed in detail as Alternative E in the EIS.

2.1.2 Alternative Casino Sites

Plymouth Parcels Site: The Plymouth Parcels consists of 12 contiguous parcels of land, comprising a 228.04± acre project site located in the northwest part of Amador County approximately 35 miles east of the City of Sacramento, and approximately 17 miles south of the City of Placerville. The property is located immediately adjacent and east of SR 49, which provides regional access to the area, two and one-half miles north of the junction of SR 16 with SR 49. Eight of the twelve parcels (10.28± acres) are located within the City of Plymouth, while the remaining four parcels (217.76± acres) are located on unincorporated land within Amador County. The property was selected for its economic viability and historical connection to the Tribe. Some of the project parcels are comprised of vacant lands which have never been developed, while others are developed and include a commercial hotel and residential structures. Cattle grazing and surface mining operations currently occur on the site. Casino development on the Plymouth Parcels was analyzed in Alternatives A, B, and C of the EIS.

Jackson Valley Road Site: The Jackson Valley Road Site is located on an approximately 40-acre parcel off Jackson Valley Road outside of the City of Ione in an unincorporated area of Amador County. Historically, the Tribe has attempted to obtain this land, but the Federal Government has never been able to secure the title for the property. The site was evaluated for its ability to meet the Tribe's purpose and need and environmental suitability for development. The site was not further considered for several reasons, as described below.

In determining the gaming facility design, it was determined that to best achieve the expected customer experience, the casino would require a minimum of 40-acres of relatively level and vacant land. The Jackson Valley Road Parcel is characterized by predominantly forested area, scattered small developments, and some open spaces. The 40-acre site meets the minimum size requirement; however, the topography, existing conditions, and soil characteristics of the property make it unable to accommodate the casino and ancillary components, such as a WWTP.

While the majority of the site has the level terrain required for the facility, there are substantial hills in the center and southern portions of the site. The hill in the center would restrict the facility to the edges of the property, limiting the amount of buffer between the casino and surrounding properties. The southern portion of the property is located in a designated Zone A flood zone (FEMA). Zone A is used to define an area that corresponds to the 100-year floodplains that are determined by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) in Flood Insurance Rate Studies. Federal Executive Order 11988 requires the BIA to evaluate Federal actions taken in a floodplain. If an agency proposes to allow an action to be located in a floodplain, the agency shall consider alternatives to avoid adverse effects and incompatible development in the floodplain.

There are approximately seven residences currently located on the site. Displacing these existing residents from the property may not be possible. If the development were to occur on this site, trees and other vegetation would have to be cleared away (to a greater extent than the Plymouth Parcels). This would be a detrimental loss to the natural habitat and aesthetics of the area.

According to the National Resource Conservation Service (NRCS), the majority of the soil is not ideal for construction. The soils are limited by their shrink-swell characteristics and tendency to corrode steel and concrete. Thus, the Jackson Valley Road site alternative was eliminated through the screening process from detailed consideration within the EIS.

2.2 REASONABLE ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED IN DETAIL

The DEIS and FEIS evaluate the following reasonable alternatives and the mandatory No-Action Alternative in detail.

2.2.1 Alternative A - Preferred Casino-Resort Project (Proposed Action)

Alternative A, the Proposed Action, consists of the following components: (1) placing approximately 228.04 acres into Federal trust status; (2) approval of a gaming development and management contract; and (3) development of a casino-resort complex, including

ancillary components such as parking and a WWTP. This alternative, which constitutes the Preferred Alternative (with incorporation of mitigation measures identified in the FEIS) and the Tribe's and BIA's Proposed Action, most suitably meets all aspects of the purpose and needs of the Proposed Action by promoting the Tribe's self-governance capability and long-term economic development. Components of Alternative A are described below.

<u>Trust Title Acquisition</u>: Alternative A consists of the conveyance of a 228.04-acre area of land into Federal trust status. The IRA authorizes the Secretary of the Interior to acquire land in trust for federally recognized Tribes.

The land transfer would be made in accordance with the procedures set forth in 25 C.F.R. Part 151. The Tribe's fee-to-trust application provides detailed information on the land being taken into trust. The regulations in 25 C.F.R. Part 151 implement Section 5 of the IRA, codified as 25 U.S.C. §465. Section 5 of the IRA provides the Secretary of the Interior with authority to acquire lands in trust status for tribes and individual Indians. Further discussion of the Secretary's authority under Section 5 is discussed in Section 8.0 of this Record of Decision.

Gaming Development and Management Contract: Congress enacted IGRA with the stated purpose of providing a statutory basis for the operation and regulation of gaming by Native American tribal governments. Because the Tribe is seeking to acquire off-reservation land in trust for gaming purposes, compliance with Section 20 of IGRA (25 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq.) must be addressed. The NIGC, which was established by IGRA, has the authority to approve management contracts between tribal governments and outside management groups. Implementation of Class III gaming operations under Alternative A would require NIGC approval of the management contract between the Tribe and its management group.

<u>Proposed Facilities</u>: Alternative A would result in the development of a 120,000 square-foot gaming facility, a 166,500 square-foot hotel and a 30,000 square-foot event/conference center on the 228.04-acre site. The gaming facility would include a casino floor, food and beverage areas (consisting of a buffet, specialty restaurant, bar, and coffee bar), meeting space, guest support services, offices, and security area. The 5-story hotel facility would have 250 guest rooms and the event/conference center would have seating for 1,200 people. Access to the casino would be provided from SR 49.

The main casino complex would include: food and beverage services, small retail shops, administrative offices for gaming-related tribal activities, and the main gaming hall. The gaming facility would include the casino floor, food and beverage areas, back of house and support services, and public/miscellaneous areas and would operate 24 hours per day. Beverages and food would be served within a planned 250-seat buffet, a 100-seat specialty restaurant, a 50-seat sports bar, and a 10-seat coffee bar with service counter. Other components of the gaming facility would include meeting space, guest support services, offices, and security area. The casino floor area would provide 65,000 square feet for gaming purposes. The 5-story hotel building would have à total building space of approximately 166,500 square feet. The main casino driveway would provide primary vehicle access to the hotel. The event center would be a single-story building and occupy approximately 30,000 square feet. Hotel employees would staff the event center.

A revised site plan has been developed for Alternative A (refer to Section 6 of this ROD), which include the development of a parking structure to reduce the development footprint of the parking lot surrounding jurisdictional wetland habitats. Refer to Figures 5-1 and 5-2 of the FEIS for the updated site plans for Phase I and Phase II of Alternative A, respectively.

Alternative A includes surface parking and a 5-level parking structure for a total of 2,965 spaces, which include 40 spaces for recreational vehicles and 11 spaces for buses. Approximately 25 percent of the total parking spaces for full build-out of Alternative A would be sized to accommodate compact vehicles.

Water Supply: Based on the lack of an agreement between the City and the Tribe regarding future water supplies, the Tribe has selected to meet potable water demands through groundwater development as the Preferred Water Option. Three groundwater wells are located on the Plymouth Parcels. Based on pumping tests, the total sustained yield of the groundwater wells is estimated to be approximately 116,640 gallons per day (gpd), or 81 gallons per minute (gpm). The three wells would be pumped in rotation to allow the groundwater reservoirs to recharge between pumping periods. To meet average and peak hour demands with the use of a rotational pumping schedule, water would be pumped to two 1.0 million gallon water tanks. The rotational scheme would entail pumping of the higher producing wells during times of peak occupancy (such as evenings during summer months on weekdays and weekends). During times of low occupancy (such as overnight during the winter during weekdays) the lower producing wells would be pumped.

Wastewater Treatment and Disposal: The Tribe and the City of Plymouth have not reached an agreement that would allow for the project facilities to connect to the City's municipal wastewater conveyance and treatment system. The Tribe has therefore committed to provide wastewater conveyance, treatment, reuse, and disposal through the construction and operation of a new, independent on-site wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), which would meet or exceed Federal and State standards. Based on unit treatment capacity and to allow for peak flows and redundant capacity for full build-out, the WWTP would be constructed to provide an average day capacity of 200,000 gpd. The WWTP would treat wastewater produced by the project facilities and would not service additional flows beyond those identified for this alternative. Wastewater would be treated using a membrane bioreactor (MBR) system. The MBR system is a state-of-the-art, advanced wastewater treatment process that utilizes membrane technology, comparable to that used for production of potable water. Biosolids produced by the WWTP would be dewatered and trucked off-site for disposal at a licensed landfill. Appendix B of the FEIS further describes the design of the WWTP. Treated water would be used for irrigation and toilet flushing and would be stored in a 750,000 gallon recycled water tank prior to use. This recycled water tank would assure that an adequate reserve capacity is available and recycled water does not mix with potable water in the WWTP. One hundred percent of wastewater flows would be treated to a level that meets the Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations, Division 4, Chapter 3, Water Recycling Criteria standards (Title 22 Standards) definition of tertiary treated recycled water (recycled water), making the water suitable for all recycled water uses and effluent disposal strategies identified for the project.

Under the Preferred Disposal Option, treated wastewater would be disposed of during dry weather through landscape irrigation, sprayfields, and subsurface disposal through leachfields and during the wet season through surface water discharge. Surface water discharge would occur on the Plymouth Parcels to an unnamed tributary of Dry Creek. A National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit from the USEPA would be required for the discharge of treated wastewater to the unnamed stream.

Site Drainage: Stormwater runoff generated during the operation of the casino would be conveyed by a combination of open channels, storm drains, and culverts. A drainage plan has been developed for Alternative A, and is included as Figure 2-6 of the FEIS. Runoff from the project facilities would be directed into vegetated swales or through inlets from buildings or curb inlets on roadways into storm drain pipes. Prior to release into the open channels that lead to Little Indian Creek (tributary to the Cosumnes River), runoff would pass through sediment/grease traps that would filter out suspended solids, such as trash and soil sedimentation, oil, grease and other potential materials that could degrade surface water quality. The proposed parking lots would be landscaped with mulched plantings or grass and would serve as bioretention areas to initially treat storm water runoff. Vegetative swales would serve as energy dissipaters and filtering mechanisms for runoff generated on-site prior to release into the site drainage channels. A detention basin would be developed on-site to reduce the increased peak flows that would result from the introduction of impervious surfaces. This basin would assure that post development runoff peaks from the operation of Phase I (and Phase II) will not exceed existing peak runoff volumes. All of the proposed facilities would be constructed outside of the 100-year floodplain.

<u>Utilities</u>: All new and existing utility lines (power lines, cable lines, phone lines, etc.) would be placed underground, as part of the development of Alternative A. Lighting fixtures on the project facilities would be generally consistent with the City's design guidelines specified in the 1997 Downtown Revitalization Strategy. Lighting features will be downcast where applicable to prevent light pollution onto neighboring properties with non-commercial land uses. This downcast lighting produced will be directed away from surrounding areas and onto the Plymouth Parcels. Signage identifying the entrances to the facilities would be the minimum size and have the minimum lighting required to safely advertise to vehicles along SR 49 the entrances to the development.

Law Enforcement: Prior to operation of Phase I, the Tribe would install security cameras and would employ security personnel to provide surveillance of the casino, parking areas, and surrounding grounds. The security cameras will provide coverage of all surface parking areas and exterior areas of the casino and facility support buildings. Security guards would patrol the facilities to reduce and prevent criminal and civil incidents. Tribal security personnel would work cooperatively with the Amador County Sheriff's Office (ACSO), which provides general law enforcement services to the City on a contract basis. The ACSO has jurisdiction to enforce State criminal laws on the proposed trust lands to the extent authorized by Public Law 83-280 (18 U.S.C. § 1162, 28 U.S.C. § 1360).

<u>Fire Protection Services</u>: To provide fire protection and emergency medical services for Alternative A, the Tribe would develop and staff an independent fire station on the Plymouth Parcels prior to the operation of Phase I. The fire station would be located immediately south

of the southern driveway, which would provide ingress and egress to SR 49. At a minimum, the on-site fire station would be equipped with a 1,750-gpm quint (combination fire engine and ladder truck), a 1,500-gpm fire engine with pump capacity and 750-gpm grass fire/foam truck (for wildfire suppression/protection and vehicle fires). The Tribal Fire Department would be staffed, at a minimum, of 4 persons, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. All the members of the Tribal Fire Department, including the Chief Officer, would be trained to a minimum level of Fire Fighter I standards as defined in 1001 National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) standard for Fire Fighter Professional Qualifications, Chapter 5, 2002 edition. In addition to being trained professional fire fighters under the 1001 NFPA standard, the members of the Tribal Fire Department will be trained to a Paramedic (advanced life support) level under California licensure to provide First Responder emergency medical services.

2.2.2 Alternative B - Reduced Casino with Hotel

Alternative B is similar to Alternative A in most respects, such as the request for the placement of the Plymouth Parcels into trust and approval of a gaming management contract. Like Alternative A, Alternative B also includes the development of a casino-resort, 250-room hotel, event and convention center, water supply facilities, wastewater treatment and disposal facilities, fire department, and site drainage features. However, under Alternative B, the main casino building would be reduced by 16 percent to accommodate less gaming spaces.

Under Alternative B, the infrastructure components related to water supply, wastewater treatment, utilities, law enforcement, and fire protection are similar to those described under Alternative A. Refer to the description of each component under Alternative A (Section 2.2.1 of this ROD) for more detail. Refer to Figures 5-3 and 5-4 of the FEIS for the updated site plans for Phase I and Phase II of Alternative B, respectively.

2.2.3 Alternative C - Reduced Casino

Alternative C consists of development of a reduced size casino-resort complex without the hotel or event/conference center proposed under Alternative A. Alternative C is similar to Alternatives A and B in most respects, entailing the placement of the property into trust and approval of a gaming management contract. Operation of the casino-resort, project construction, water supply, wastewater treatment and disposal, and site drainage would be similar to Alternatives A and B.

Under Alternative C, the infrastructure components related to water supply, wastewater treatment, utilities, law enforcement, and fire protection are similar to those described under Alternative A. For Alternative C, refer to the description of each component under Alternative A (Section 2.2.1 of this ROD) for more detail. Refer to Figure 5-5 of the FEIS for the mitigated site plan for Alternative C.

2.2.4 Alternative D - Retail Development

Alternative D is a non-gaming alternative that would result in the development of a retail center on the Plymouth Parcels. Under this alternative, land would still be placed into trust by

the BIA. However, as there would be no gaming under this alternative, there would be no approval of a gaming development and management contract by the NIGC.

Alternative D Facilities: Under Alternative D, retail and restaurant developments would be developed on Parcels #3 through #11. The development would have a horseshoe-like shape with the open end facing to the east of the Plymouth Parcels. All storefronts would face inward toward the parking facilities with no fronts open to SR 49. The horseshoe-like shape would consist of smaller in-line stores with two large anchor stores on each end. Parking for Alternative D would be located east of the retail outlet and would provide a total of 617 parking spaces.

Infrastructure and Public Services: Water supply distribution under Alternative D is similar to that described under Alternative A. Wastewater generated by Alternative D would be treated by an on-site WWTP to be developed by the Tribe. Under Alternative D, there are two options for the disposal of treated wastewater. Option 1 would utilize sprayfields and ground disposal. Option 2 would consist of surface water discharge or a combination of surface water discharge and ground disposal. These two options are similar to those described under Alternative A. However, under Option 1, a winter storage reservoir would not be required under Alternative D.

Under Alternative D, the infrastructure components related to water supply, wastewater treatment and disposal (except for the winter storage reservoir proposed under Alternatives A through C), utilities, law enforcement, and fire protection are similar to those described under Alternative A. For Alternative D, refer to the description of each component under Alternative A (Section 2.2.1 of this ROD) for more detail.

2.2.5 Alternative E - No-Action Alternative

Under the No-Action Alternative, the Plymouth Parcels would not be placed into Federal trust for the benefit of the Tribe and the site would not be developed as described under the development alternatives. Land use jurisdiction of the Plymouth Parcels would remain with the City and Amador County. The existing residences would remain on the Plymouth Parcels and surface mining activities would continue to operate. The parcels located within the City limits are designated as Urban Commercial on the City's General Plan Future Land Use Map. The remaining parcels within that are located within the County (and designated within the City's sphere of influence) are designated as Agricultural parcels. It is anticipated, that the parcels within the City limits could ultimately be developed with commercial enterprises.

3.0 ENVIRONMENT IMPACTS AND PUBLIC COMMENTS

3.1 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS IDENTIFIED IN THE FEIS

Implementation of the Proposed Action and alternatives could result in direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts to the surrounding environment. Impacts would occur as a result of the construction and operation of the Proposed Action and alternatives. A number of specific environmental issues were raised during the EIS process. The categories of the most substantive environmental issues raised during the EIS process include:

- Water Supply
- Wastewater Treatment
- Biological Resources (including waters of the U.S.)
- Socioeconomic Conditions
- Transportation and Traffic
- Visual Resources
- Public Health and Safety
- Noise

Each of the alternatives considered in the FEIS was evaluated for the potential to impact environmental issues as required under NEPA, as well as the above environmental concerns raised during the EIS process. The evaluation of these project-related impacts included consultations with entities that have jurisdiction or special expertise to ensure that the impact assessments for the FEIS were accomplished using accepted industry standard practice, procedures, and the most currently available data and models for each of the issues evaluated in the FEIS at the time of preparation. Alternative courses of action and mitigation measures were developed in response to the identified environmental concerns and substantive issues raised during the EIS process. A summary of the analysis of the environmental issues within the FEIS, including the issues raised during the EIS process, is presented below.

3.1.1 Land Resources

Topography – All development alternatives (A through D) would involve clearing and grading. The project design of Alternatives A through C ensures that the major topographic features (i.e., steep hills) would be preserved. Alternative D requires more fill compared to the other alternatives due to construction of stable engineered building pads. With design provisions for each alternative to reduce grading and clearing to the extent possible, impacts to topography under Alternatives A and D are less than significant. Under Alternative E, major grading may be necessary on the site and the steep hills may be altered if residential or commercial development were to occur. Through compliance with regulatory requirements, impacts from non-tribal development on the proposed site would be less than significant.

Soils – All development alternatives could potentially impact soils due to erosion during construction, operation, and maintenance activities, including clearing, grading, trenching, and backfilling. Obtaining a NPDES permit from the USEPA for sediment control and erosion prevention is required for construction projects disturbing more than one acre of soil, as under Alternatives A through D. Impacts to soils under Alternative A through D would be less than significant with required compliance with the USEPA's NPDES general permit and required Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). Impacts to soils under Alternative E from non-tribal development would be less than significant with required compliance with the State's NPDES general permit and required SWPPP.

<u>Seismicity</u> – There are no known fault traces mapped on the Plymouth Parcels, and the Plymouth Parcels are not within the Alquist-Priolo Zone, therefore, no significant seismic impacts for any of the alternatives would occur.

<u>Mineral Resources</u> – Alterations of the land resources used under any of the alternatives would not significantly diminish the extraction of important ores or minerals, as no economically significant mineral resources are known to exist in the project area. Impacts are less than significant.

3.1.2 Water Resources

Surface Water

<u>Drainage</u> – Impacts from runoff changes from the increase in impervious surfaces resulting from Alternatives A through D would be reduced through minimization of impervious surfaces (as indicated in Figures 5-1 and 5-2 of the FEIS); incorporation of storm drains, vegetative swales, and a sediment/grease trap in the project design, and development of a detention basin ensuring off-site discharge rates would be approximately equivalent to predevelopment runoff rates. With the incorporation of these design components into Alternatives A through D, impacts would be reduced to less than significant. Non-tribal development that occurs under Alternative E would be required to follow State, City, and County policies regarding erosion control and storm water control/quality. Compliance with these provisions would ensure impacts to the existing drainage system and downstream drainages are less than significant.

Flooding – Less than one acre of Parcel #3 is within Flood Zone A, an area with a one percent annual chance flooding for which no base flood elevations have been determined. Development of Alternatives A through D would not occur in this portion of the Plymouth Parcels; therefore, no adverse impacts associated with flooding or floodplain management would occur. Non-tribal development that occurs under Alternative E would be required to comply with State and local flood policies, which include the prevention of any development within or the alteration of floodplains. Development of Alternative E would therefore result in no impact associated with flooding and floodplain management.

Surface Water Quality — Construction of Alternatives A through D would result in ground disturbance, which could increase sediment discharge to surface waters during storm events, reducing water quality. Construction also has the potential to generate waste materials that can be washed into nearby surface waters during storm events. In accordance with the requirements of the NPDES Permit, the Tribe would prepare and implement a SWPPP to control discharge of pollutants in stormwater. The plan would incorporate appropriate best management practices (BMPs) to prevent degradation of surface water resources during construction. Through compliance with permit requirements, including incorporation of BMPs outlined in Sections 6.1 and 6.2 of this ROD, impacts to water quality during construction of Alternatives A through D would be less than significant. Development that occurs under Alternative E would be required to comply with the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (CVRWQCB) water quality objectives as well as City/County General Plan policies. Impacts associated with anticipated commercial and/or residential development under Alternative E would be less than significant.

Wastewater Disposal – Wastewater from the Alternative A through D WWTP facilities would be treated to a level that meets the Title 22 Standards. Storage and disposal of treated effluent could result in discharges to surface waters, which could potentially impact surface water quality. In part as a result of issues raised during the EIS process, Wastewater Disposal Option 2 was selected as the preferred option. This option entails dry weather discharge through landscape irrigation, sprayfields, and subsurface disposal and surface water discharge during rainy weather to a tributary of Dry Creek under a NPDES permit from the USEPA. This option would result in fewer environmental impacts than Option 1 (storage reservoir option). The NPDES permit would include additional discharge limitations that would ensure that the treated effluent meets established water quality objectives and is of sufficient quality to support beneficial uses of the receiving water. A sampling and monitoring program is provided as mitigation for sprayfield and landscape irrigation and subsurface disposal to reduce the impacts to surface and groundwater quality to less-than-significant levels. Non-tribal development under Alternative E would be required to connect to the City's WWTP; this is discussed in Section 3.1.8 below.

Groundwater – In response to issues raised during the EIS process, and because the Tribe does not have an existing agreement with the City, Water Supply Option 2 has been selected as the preferred option. Under this option, the Tribe will utilize two on-site wells and one off-site well and two 1-million gallons storage tanks to meet potable water demands. Based on comments received on the DEIS, the Tribe would implement a groundwater-monitoring program in consultation with the BIA. To reduce the potable water demands of Alternative A through C, the Tribe would develop the facilities with dual plumbing to maximize recycled water use. The incorporation of mitigation measures identified in Section 6.2 of this ROD would ensure potential effects to groundwater resources from development of an on-site groundwater supply system proposed under Alternatives A through D would be less-than-significant. Non-tribal development under Alternative E would connect to the City's water supply system. Therefore, non-tribal commercial and or residential development under Alternative E would result in no impact to groundwater resources.

3.1.3 Air Quality

Construction Emissions – Emissions of ozone precursors nitrogen oxides (NO_X) and reactive organic gases (ROGs) during implementation Alternatives A through D would not exceed Clean Air Act (CAA) General Conformity thresholds; therefore, there would be a minimal adverse effect to air quality from the construction of Alternatives A through D. Through compliance with the National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) reporting and operating requirements as regulated under the Federal Clean Air Act, the demolition of structures during the development of Alternatives A through D that may contain asbestos would have a less than significant impact on air quality. The impacts to air quality from construction of Alternatives A through D would be less than significant. Under Alternative E, the Plymouth Parcels may be developed in the future, at which time construction of the future project would likely emit ozone precursors ROG and NO_X, as well as, other criteria air pollutants (CAPs).

Operational Emissions – Emissions of ozone precursors NO_X and ROGs from the operation of Alternatives A through D would not exceed CAA General Conformity thresholds; therefore,

there would be a minimal adverse effect to air quality. Under Alternative E, the Plymouth Parcels may be developed and operated in the future, at which time the operation of any future project would likely result in the emission of ozone precursors ROG and NO_X as well as other CAPs.

3.1.4 Biological Resources

Wildlife and Habitats —There are no known United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) designated critical habitats within the project area of Alternatives A through D. The majority of the habitat disturbance during development would occur in annual grassland habitat. These areas present limited resources for wildlife and are currently subject to disturbance from existing forms of land use, specifically cattle grazing. On-site oak savannah, oak woodland, and riparian woodland provide habitat for several migratory bird species. Measures to mitigate for adverse effects to trees within these habitat types, including avoidance and fencing, are provided. After mitigation, impacts to wildlife and habitats under each of the development alternatives would be reduced to less than significant. Non-tribal development under Alternative E would be required to comply with general plan provisions on resource conservation and with the California Department of Fish and Game provisions. With regulatory requirements restricting impacts to biological resources, non-tribal development would result in less-than-significant impacts to wildlife and habitat.

Waters of the U.S. —Alternatives A through D would impact potentially jurisdictional wetland features. In response to issues raised during the EIS process, and consultation with the USEPA, mitigated site plans have been developed for Alternatives A through C, which include the development of a parking structure to reduce the development footprint of the parking lot adjacent to jurisdictional wetland habitats. Refer to Figures 5-1 and 5-5 of the FEIS. Additional mitigation measures identified in the FEIS including compensatory wetland creation in another location and BMPs related to Land Resources that would further reduce impacts to wetlands and waters of the U.S. to a less-than-significant level. With regulatory requirements restricting impacts to biological resources, non-tribal development under Alternative E would result in less-than-significant impacts to waters of the U.S.

Federally-Listed Special-Status Species - Five federally-listed special-status species have the potential to occur within the Plymouth Parcels: vernal pool fairy shrimp (VPFS) (Branchinecta lynchi), valley elderberry longhorn beetle (VELB) (Desmocerus californicus dimorphus), vernal pool tadpole shrimp (VPTS) (Lepidurus packardi), California red-legged frog CRLF) (Rana aurora draytonii), and the California tiger salamander, central population (CTS) (Ambystoma californiense). The BIA concluded that while the Proposed Action may affect, it is not likely to adversely affect the five federally-listed species and initiated consultation in a memorandum to dated June 6, 2005, with the USFWS in accordance with Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act (ESA). The USFWS responded with a memorandum dated August 12, 2005, which requested additional information regarding the potential for federally-listed special-status species to occur on the Plymouth Parcels. In response to the memorandum from the USFWS, an updated Section 7 consultation package was sent to the USFWS which contained a revised Biological Assessment, a 2007 CRLF Habitat Assessment and a 2010 CRLF Survey Report, a 2003 CTS Habitat Assessment, a 2010 Stream Assessment, and the 2005 and 2007 90-Day Reports of Vernal Pool Branchiopods. The completed protocol-level surveys for VELB, CRLF, CTS, and the vernal

pool species (including 2 years of completed wet season surveys) document negative findings for the listed species.

In addition to the species mentioned above, the 2010 Stream Assessment for the Proposed Action evaluated the potential for impacts to listed salmonids which could be affected by the proposed discharge of tertiary treated wastewater effluent to an on-site tributary to Dry Creek. The assessment discusses the existing hydrology of the Plymouth Parcels and evaluates potential project effects of the proposed discharge to the physical habitats, biological resources (including special status species), and beneficial uses of the proposed receiving waters. Three federal sensitive fish species (all anadromous) were determined to potentially occur in Dry Creek as a result of the special status species searches: Central Valley steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss) federally threatened (FT), fall run Central Valley Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) federally endangered (FE), and spring run Central Valley Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) (FE). Based on stream assessment field observations, literature searches, high level (tertiary) of treatment that would be provided, and the fact that the proposed discharge is above the point of anadromy, the BIA concludes that the proposed project is not likely to adversely affect federally-listed fish species.

After completion of the updated Section 7 consultation package, the BIA concluded that the original conclusion in the 2005 consultation package was accurate to state that while the Proposed Action may affect, it is not likely to adversely affect the following listed species: VELB, CTS, and CRF. Additionally, the Plymouth Parcels have been surveyed over two seasons for vernal pool species, and based on the results of those surveys and the fact that the two vernal pools on the site would be completely avoided by the modified project facilities, the BIA concludes that the Proposed Action would have no effect on any vernal pool listed species. Furthermore, for the reasons stated above, BIA concludes that the Proposed Action is not likely to adversely affect federally listed fish species.

Migratory Birds —The construction of Alternatives A through D may include the removal of trees and vegetation and earth grading which, if phased during nesting seasons, have the potential to adversely affect the nesting activity of the migratory species. Development of Alternatives A through D may have moderate adverse effects on nesting migratory birds. However, mitigation measures including preconstruction surveys, establishment of setbacks, and monitoring, would reduce such effects to a less than significant level. With regulatory requirements restricting impacts to biological resources, non-tribal development under Alternative E would result in less-than-significant impacts to migratory birds.

3.1.5 Cultural Resources

Evaluation of the historic resources identified on the Plymouth Parcels found that they were also ineligible for inclusion to the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP). Development of Alternatives A through D would, therefore, result in a less-than-significant impact to cultural resources. The State Historic Preservation Officer has concurred with the BIA's determination that project development on the Plymouth Parcels under Alternatives A through D would not adversely affect historic properties (refer to Appendix K of the FEIS). Mitigation is provided in the event of unexpected discovery that would reduce impacts to as yet undiscovered cultural resources less than significant, including compliance with the

NHPA, Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act, and Archaeological Resource Protection Act.

No known paleontological resources have been reported within or in the immediate vicinity of the Plymouth Parcels. Therefore, no adverse effects would occur from the development of Alternatives A through D.

Non-tribal developments under Alternative E would be required to comply with State and local regulations regarding cultural and paleontological resources, resulting in less than significant impacts.

3.1.6 Socioeconomic Conditions and Environmental Justice

Socioeconomic Conditions - Construction of Alternatives A through D would result in the employment of construction workers and is considered a beneficial impact. Due to the existing labor force in surrounding communities, the number of available vacant residential units, the limited amount of new construction expected, and that new housing is expected to be located over a wide geographic area, the potential effects to housing would be less than significant. The development proposed under Alternatives A through D would benefit the Tribe, as it would generate new income and tribal members would have access to new jobs. The creation of employment opportunities on the reservation would also benefit local residents. Additional students that would attend schools in Amador County School District (District) as a result of Alternatives A through E may place additional demands on the District. Based on issues raised during the EIS process, payments to the District were included within a Municipal Services Agreement (MSA) between the Tribe and the City. The MSA was later voided in court and the Tribe requested BIA incorporate the payment provisions of the MSA as mitigation in the EIS. Therefore, payment of school impact fees to the District in an amount to be agreed upon between the Tribe and the District was included in the FEIS to mitigate effects that may occur as a result of development of Alternatives A through D. This would reduce impacts to a less than significant level. Although an additional casino in Amador County under Alternatives A through C is not expected to substantially increase the prevalence of problem gamblers, in accordance with issues raised during development of the EIS the Tribe has agreed to make an annual contribution to an organization or organizations to address problem gambling issues.

<u>Environmental Justice</u> – Development of Alternatives A through D would benefit all communities within proximity of the Plymouth Parcels by creating employment opportunities that would be primarily filled by the local labor market. These communities would not be disproportionately adversely impacted. A less-than-significant effect would result.

Under Alternative E, the scope of socioeconomic impacts that would result depends on the land use development. Residential development would result in substantial housing impacts, whereas commercial development would generate expenditures and employment similar to Alternative D, discussed above. The beneficial socioeconomic impacts of the magnitude discussed above for Alternatives A through C would not occur under non-tribal commercial development.

3.1.7 Resource Use Patterns

Transportation/Circulation – In response to issues raised on the DEIS, a revised Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was prepared and included as Appendix M and summarized in Section 4.8 of the FEIS. Specifically, the analysis and study areas were revised in response to comments on the DEIS and in consultation with local jurisdictions. As stated in the revised TIA, development of Alternatives A through D would cause certain roadway segments and intersections in the vicinity of the proposed casino to operate at an unacceptable Level Of Service (LOS)(refer to Section 4.8 of the FEIS). Mitigation measures have been developed for the roadway segments and project intersections showing unacceptable LOS and for intersections meeting the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) signal warrant during operation of Alternatives A through D (refer to Section 6.7 of this ROD). With the incorporation of project mitigation measures, impacts to project roadways would be reduced to a less-than-significant level. Under Alternative E, no casino would be built; however, the site may be utilized for other purposes in the future. The traffic conditions under Alternative E would be as described for the baseline conditions for each target year; however, future traffic increases may occur due to future approved projects.

Land Use —Proposed land uses for Parcels #4 through #11, would be consistent with the City of Plymouth General Plan and Zoning Commercial Designations. Parcels #8 and #9 are currently developed with a land use (single-family dwelling) that is inconsistent with the City General Plan designation for the parcels. Alternative A would replace this use with a casino parking area that would be consistent with the existing planned land use designation. Though consistent with the City General Plan, the development of the City Parcels would result in a noticeable increase in land use intensity, however for Alternatives A through D, this would be a less than significant impact. Development on lands currently under jurisdiction of the County would also result in a noticeable increase in land use intensity. Under Alternative E, non-tribal development would be required to be consistent with City and County zoning and general plan provisions and would result in less-than-significant impacts relating to land use.

3.1.8 Public Services

All development alternatives (A through D) would increase demands for water supply, wastewater, solid waste, gas and electric, telecommunications, law enforcement, fire protection, and emergency medical services.

<u>Water</u> – As discussed in **Section 3.1.2** of this ROD, Water Supply Option 2 has been selected as the preferred option. Development of Alternatives A through D with Water Supply Option 2 would have no impact on the City's water supply. Through compliance with the environmental review process, as well as City and County requirements, non-tribal development under Alternative E would have a less-than-significant impact on the water supply.

<u>Wastewater</u> – An on-site WWTP would be built to treat wastewater discharged from developments planned under Alternatives A through D. With the development of on-site wastewater treatment, no connection to municipal wastewater treatment would be required to

develop Alternatives A through D, and therefore there would be no effect to municipal services.

Solid Waste —Impacts to regional waste disposal and related services would be less than significant and mitigation measures including the preparation of a Waste Management Plan, installation of recycling containers, and the adoption of universal waste disposal practices would further reduce any impacts to the waste stream. Non-tribal development and associated generation of solid waste under Alternative E would not result in adverse impacts to solid waste facilities.

<u>Utilities</u> – Connection to the electrical grid would require upgrade of the existing power transmission lines. Mitigation to reduce potential impacts to less-than-significant levels consists of funding the upgrade of the power lines to support the demands of the project. Impacts associated with power usage would be further reduced through the implementation of the air quality mitigation measures by increasing the energy efficiency of Alternatives A through D. Implementation of Alternative A through D would result in a less-than-significant impact to telecommunications. Non-tribal development on the Plymouth Parcels under Alternative E would be required to upgrade the existing power lines, similar to that of the development alternatives addressed above. With the associated upgrades of the existing power lines, non-tribal development would result in a less-than-significant impact on electrical systems.

Public Health and Safety – The development of Alternatives A through C would increase the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) officers needed in the Amador County Sherriff's Office, the number of staff working at the Amador County District Attorney's Office, and possibly California Highway Patrol and other law enforcement and emergency services operating in Amador County. This is a potentially significant impact. In response to issues raised during the EIS process, mitigation measures including in lieu payments were included within the MSA. Once voided, these payments were included as mitigation measures within the DEIS and carried over to the FEIS. In addition, the implementation of responsible alcohol policies and installation of lighting and signage to decrease loitering would reduce effects to law enforcement and emergency services to a less-than-significant level. A less-than-significant effect is expected for Alternative D and no mitigation is required.

With residential development assumed for the project site, Alternative E would result in an increased need for fire protection and emergency medical services. However, the Tribe would not fund the construction or operation of an on-site fire station. With increased service calls and no additional fire station, impacts associated with non-tribal development would be significant to fire protection and emergency medical services.

3.1.9 Other Values

Noise – In response to issues identified during the EIS process, a noise assessment was conducted to further address potential impacts related to noise. Based on the results of the assessment, construction activities under Alternatives A through D would result in short-term increases in the local ambient noise environment in excess of the 5 dB threshold of significance. Mitigation provided in the FEIS would limit construction activities to normal daytime hours. Operational noise impacts from the use of mechanical equipment, on-site

deliveries, and transportation sources were assessed in the noise analysis. Because the estimated distance from the development to the nearest off-site residence is approximately 500 feet, the mechanical equipment noise from the casino or retail development would not be approach significant noise levels at the nearest sensitive noise receptor. However, loading dock noise would be more than 5 dBA above existing nighttime levels in this area. Mitigation is proposed, including the construction of sound barriers to reduce this effect to a less-thansignificant impact. Project related traffic noise level increases would not exceed the threshold of 5 dBA above the equivalent continuous noise level (Leq) along any of the off-site project segments analyzed. Under Alternatives A through C, parking areas in the southwestern and northwestern portion of the Plymouth Parcels have the potential to increase off-site noise levels. For Alternative D, no mitigation would be needed for residences to the northwest, but residences to the southwest would need noise attenuation. Earthen berms would be constructed as mitigation to reduce the effect of on-site traffic noise on nearby residences to below an average Leq of 45 decibels, resulting in a less-than-significant impact. Impacts resulting from Alternative E would be less than significant due to compliance with local regulations required by non-tribal projects.

<u>Hazardous Materials</u> - Existing mine tailings were the only recognized environmental condition on the Plymouth Parcels. The areas adjacent to the mine tailings would not be developed under Alternatives A through D and a 50-foot setback would be established, surrounding the mine tailings. Leaving the mine tailings in place does not pose an immediate risk to human health and the environment. Mitigation measures describing the capping of mine tailings are provided to reduce impacts to less-than-significant levels. Incorporation of the BMPs for containment of accidental releases would reduce impacts from Alternatives A through D to a less-than-significant level. During operation of Alternatives A through D. effects to the environment or public are considered to be less than significant. Mitigation includes provisions for the proper disposal of commercial universal waste, and would ensure impacts from generation and disposal of universal wastes are less than significant. Compliance with Federal petroleum storage regulations would ensure that storage of diesel fuel for emergency generators and bulk propane on-site would be less than significant. Under Alternative E, long-term development would increase use of low levels of hazardous materials ranging from cleaning products at commercial developments to household hazardous materials such as pesticides, paints, and automobile fluids. The increase in hazardous materials use over the long-term on the Plymouth Parcels would be less than significant.

<u>Visual Resources</u> – Development of Alternatives A through D would result in the change of views for both north and south bound travelers along SR 49; however, design features incorporated into Alternatives A through D will ensure the project does not substantially degrade the visual character of the site and its surroundings. All lighting fixtures on the project facilities will be downcast to decrease light impacts to the surrounding vicinity to a less than significant level. As indicated in the updated site plan (Figure 5-2 in Section 5.2.5 of the FEIS), by moving the project farther away from SR-49 and providing landscaping along the property adjacent to 49, the visual impacts are softened such that visual impacts are less than significant. With the implementation of the mitigation measure for participation in Caltrans' Adopt-A-Highway Program, impacts to visual resources would be further reduced.

Under Alternative E, it is anticipated that the project site would eventually be developed with residential and/or commercial structures at a density greater than current conditions, consistent with existing land use designations. Based on long-term development, the rural character of the project site would most likely be transformed, significantly impacting existing visual resources. This development would be required to comply with the City and County general plan and zoning ordinances regarding visual resources, thereby reducing impacts to less-than-significant levels.

3.1.10 Indirect Effects

Indirect Effects from Socioeconomic Conditions — As described in detail in Section 4.7 of the FEIS, Alternatives A through D would not result in significant indirect effects (effects caused by the action but occurring later in time or removed in distance). Indirect socioeconomic effects on the local and regional economy would result in beneficial effects to surrounding communities, creating jobs, expenditures on goods and services, and increasing demand for housing. Additionally, the Tribe will develop and implement a housing program to address the availability of affordable housing within Amador County. The housing program would coordinate its activities with Amador County and the City of Plymouth in order to further countywide planning efforts [refer to Mitigation Measure 5.2.7(C) of the FEIS].

Indirect Effects from Off-Site Traffic Mitigation – As described in detail in Section 4.12 of the FEIS, implementation of off-site traffic mitigation may indirectly affect the environment; however, off-site activities would be required to comply with Federal, State, and local laws, policies, and ordinances. With standard construction practices and specifications required by the NPDES permit program, Caltrans, Amador County, and/or the City of Plymouth, the intersection improvements identified under the project alternatives would result in less-than-significant effects to land resources. To address effects to sensitive habitat and species, biological surveys and appropriate avoidance and/or mitigation measures would be required to comply with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). To address potential impacts to cultural resources, cultural surveys and appropriate avoidance and/or mitigation measures may be required to comply with the CEQA. Because some of the improvements may not be completed for 5-20 years, and as the actual extent of improvements may change due to the actual growth in traffic volume, mitigation has been identified to address the potential indirect effects to air quality, biological resources, socioeconomics, and noise.

3.1.11 Growth-Inducing Effects

The creation of additional jobs within the County would result in an increase in housing demand within Amador and surrounding counties. In the long-term, most employees would likely continue to reside within their existing communities. However, some employees would choose to buy their first home or relocate within the County. Additionally, the increased demand for rental housing in the area could result in the construction of new housing units. Most increased demands for goods and services would be captured by existing businesses. However, it is likely that some existing businesses would expand and other businesses would be created as the result of the increase in commercial activity. As with residential development, commercial development would be subject to approval by local government according to land use plans and ordinances. Therefore, the Proposed Action and alternatives would not induce "disorderly" commercial growth either directly or indirectly.

3.1.12 Cumulative Effects

Alternative A though D

The development alternatives when added to past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions would not result in significant cumulative impacts to air quality (except Green House Gases), agricultural resources, biological resources, cultural resources, hazardous materials, land resources, noise, public services, and visual resources with mitigation identified under the direct effects.

Green House Gas (GHG) emissions under Alternatives A through D when added to past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions would be cumulatively considerable. With the implementation of diesel anti-idling, participation in the State's 50 percent recycling goal, and increasing water use efficiency as mitigation measures, the development alternatives would conform to the state climate reduction strategies. Therefore, implementation of Alternatives A through D, with mitigation, would result in a less-than-significant cumulatively considerable impact to global GHG emissions and inventories.

Affordable housing impacts of Alternatives A through D when added to past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions would be cumulatively considerable. Mitigation for these effects consists of the development and implementation of a housing program to address the availability of affordable housing within Amador County. Therefore, implementation of Alternatives A through D, with mitigation, would result in a less than significant cumulatively considerable impact to affordable housing.

When added to past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions, development of Alternatives A through D would result an unacceptable Level of Service (LOS) in the cumulative year 2025 at various roadway segments and intersections in the vicinity of the Plymouth Parcels. As mitigation, the Tribe would be responsible for a certain share of the financial burden of implementing upgrades that would maintain traffic operations at an acceptable level. An estimate of these shares for each affected intersection is provided in **Section 6.7** of this ROD.

Alternative E

Under Alternative E, cumulative impacts from other development would still be experienced. If the Plymouth Parcels were developed by a non-tribal entity in the future, then the cumulative impacts would be similar to those described above for the no-project setting under each alternative.

3.1.12 Unavoidable Adverse Effects

In accordance with the analysis within the FEIS, there are no unavoidable adverse effects that would occur as a result of the implementation of the Proposed Action and alternatives. All identified impacts can be adequately mitigated.

3.2 COMMENTS ON THE FEIS AND RESPONSES

During the 30-day waiting period following issuance of the FEIS on August 13, 2010, the BIA received 11 comment letters from agencies and 8 from other interested parties. During the decision making process for the Proposed Action, all comment letters on the FEIS were reviewed and considered by the BIA and are included within the administrative record for this project. A list of each comment letter and a copy of each comment letter received from the agencies and from interested parties re included within Attachment III. Specific responses to the comment letters are included in the Response to Comments document, which is also included in Attachment III.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE(S)

Either the Retail Development Alternative (Alternative D) or the No-Action Alternative (Alternative E) would result in the fewest effects to the biological and physical environment. Because the exact type of development that would occur under the No-Action Alternative cannot be predicted with certainty assumptions are required to assess whether it would result in similar, lesser, or greater impacts to the natural and human environment than the Proposed Action. Although environmental impacts are anticipated to occur under the No-Action Alternative in relation to future development on the site, these impacts are assumed to be less than those of the Proposed Action because future non-tribal development would be required to comply with County and City zoning ordinances and general plans, and accordingly would be environmentally preferred. The No-Action Alternative would not meet the stated purpose and need. Specifically, it would not provide a land base for the Tribe, which has no trust land, and therefore does not provide the Tribe with an area in which the Tribe may engage in economic development to generate sustainable revenue to allow the Tribe to achieve self-sufficiency. self-determination, and a strong tribal government. The No-Action alternative also would likely result in substantially less economic benefits to Amador County and the City of Plymouth than the development alternatives.

Of the development alternatives, Alternative D would result in the fewest adverse effects on the human environment. Alternative D would have the fewest effects due to a lesser amount of new development than would occur with any of the other development alternatives. However, Alternative D would generate less revenue, and therefore reduce the number of programs and services the tribal government could offer tribal members and neighboring communities. Alternative D is the Environmentally Preferred Alternative, but it would not fulfill the purpose and need for the Proposed Action stated in the EIS.

5.0 PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE

For the reasons discussed herein, the Department has determined that Alternative A (the Proposed Action) is the Preferred Alternative. Of the alternatives evaluated within the EIS, Alternative A would best meet the purposes and need for action by promoting the long-term economic vitality, self-sufficiency, self-determination, and self-governance of the Tribe. The tribal government facilities and casino-resort complex described under Alternative A would provide the Tribe, which has no trust land, with the best opportunity for securing a viable means of attracting and maintaining a long-term, sustainable revenue stream for the tribal government. Under such conditions, the tribal government would be stable and better

prepared to establish, fund, and maintain governmental programs that offer a wide range of health, education, and welfare services to tribal members, as well as provide the Tribe, its members, and local communities with greater opportunities for employment and economic growth. Alternative A would also allow the Tribe to implement the highest and best use of the property. Finally, while Alternative A would have greater environmental impacts than either of the environmentally preferred alternatives, those alternatives do not meet the purpose and need for the Proposed Action, and the environmental impacts of the Preferred Alternative are adequately addressed by the mitigation measures adopted in this ROD.

Alternatives B and C, while less intensive than Alternative A, would require similar levels of mitigation for identified impacts (such as mitigation for impacts to wetlands and the regional roadway network); however, the economic returns would be smaller than under Alternative A and the more limited development is not the most effective use of either the land or the Tribe's capital resources. Based on the limitations of the environmental resources in the area (such as the existing roadway network), the Tribe needs a development option that would ensure adequate capital resources to not only fund tribal programs but fund mitigation measures for identified impacts and payment obligations to local jurisdictions. The reduced revenue anticipated from Alternatives B and C would limit the Tribe's ability to fund both tribal programs and mitigation measures. Additionally, without the development of the hotel and the rural location of the Plymouth Parcels, Alternative C would provide further limited opportunities for capital development to fund tribal programs.

The competitive market forces associated with commercial development, the amount of competitive commercial development within Amador County and the surrounding greater Sacramento area, and the location of the Plymouth Parcels make Alternative D (retail center development) less attractive than Alternative A from the standpoint of securing a long-term, sustainable revenue stream. A retail development on the Plymouth Parcels would have limited competitive ability to draw patrons from the greater population centers within Amador County and the Greater Sacramento area compared to the gaming alternatives. In addition, based on peak hour traffic patterns for retail centers compared to gaming operations, Alternative D also would likely have equal to and in certain areas greater traffic impacts during peak hours than would Alternative A.

In short, Alternative A is the alternative. It best meets the purposes and needs of the Tribe and the BIA while preserving the key natural resources of the Plymouth Parcels. Therefore, Alternative A is the Department's Preferred Alternative.

6.0 MITIGATION MEASURES

All practicable means to avoid or minimize environmental harm from the Preferred Alternative have been identified and adopted. The following mitigation measures and related enforcement and monitoring programs have been adopted as a part of this decision. Where applicable, mitigation measures will be monitored and enforced pursuant to Federal law, tribal ordinances, and agreements between the Tribe and appropriate governmental authorities, as well as this decision. Specific best management practices and mitigation measures adopted pursuant to this decision are set forth below and included within the Mitigation Monitoring and Enforcement Plan (MMEP) (see Chapter 2.0 of the BIA's Decision Package).

6.1 LAND RESOURCES

A. In compliance with the Clean Water Act, the Tribe shall apply for coverage under the USEPA's NPDES General Construction Permit (GCP). In compliance with permitting requirements, the Tribe shall develop a SWPPP that shall address water quality impacts associated with construction and operation of the project. Water quality control measures identified in the SWPPP shall include but not be limited to the following list. These measures shall be implemented where feasible.

Construction Measures

- Existing vegetation shall be retained where possible. To the extent feasible, grading activities shall be limited to the immediate area required for construction.
- Temporary erosion control measures (such as silt fences, fiber rolls, vegetated swales, a velocity dissipation structure, staked straw bales, temporary revegetation, rock bag dams, and sediment traps) shall be employed for disturbed areas.
- 3. No disturbed surfaces shall be left without erosion control measures in place during the winter and spring months.
- 4. Construction area entrances and exits shall be stabilized with crushed aggregate.
- 5. Sediment shall be retained on-site by a system of sediment basins, traps, or other appropriate measures.
- A spill prevention and countermeasure plan shall be developed, if necessary, which shall identify proper storage, collection, and disposal measures for potential pollutants (such as fuel, fertilizers, pesticides, etc.) used on-site.
- 7. Petroleum products shall be stored, handled, used, and disposed of properly.
- 8. Construction materials, including topsoil and chemicals shall be stored, covered, and isolated to prevent runoff losses and contamination of groundwater.
- Fuel and vehicle maintenance areas shall be established away from all drainage courses and designed to control runoff.
- 10. Sanitary facilities shall be provided for construction workers.
- 11. Disposal facilities shall be provided for soil wastes, including excess asphalt produced during construction.
- 12. The Tribe shall educate all workers in the proper handling, use, cleanup, and disposal of all chemical materials used during construction activities and provide appropriate facilities to store and isolate contaminants.
- 13. The Tribe shall educate all contractors involved in the project on the potential environmental damages resulting from soil erosion prior to development by conducting a pre-construction conference. Copies of the project's erosion control plan shall be distributed at this time. All construction bid packages,

- contracts, plans, and specifications shall contain language that requires adherence to the plan.
- 14. Construction activities shall be scheduled to minimize land disturbance during peak runoff periods. Soil conservation practices shall be completed during the fall or late winter to reduce erosion during spring runoff.
- 15. Creating construction zones and phasing construction through grading only one part of a construction zone at a time shall minimize exposed areas. If possible, grading on a particular zone shall be delayed until protective cover is restored on the previously graded zone.
- 16. Utility installations shall be coordinated to limit the number of excavations.
- 17. Preserving as much natural cover, topography, and drainage as possible shall protect disturbed soils from rainfall during construction. Trees and shrubs shall not be removed unnecessarily.
- 18. Disturbed areas shall be stabilized as promptly as possible, especially on long or steep slopes. Recommended plant materials and mulches shall be used to establish protective ground cover. Vegetation such as fast-growing annual and perennial grasses shall be used to shield and bind the soil. Mulches and artificial binders shall be used until vegetation is established. Where truck traffic is frequent, gravel approaches shall be used to reduce soil compaction and limit the tracking of sediment onto SR 49.
- 19. Surface water runoff shall be controlled by directing flowing water away from critical areas and by reducing runoff velocity. Diversion structures such as terraces, dikes, and ditches shall collect and direct runoff water around vulnerable areas to prepared drainage outlets. Surface roughening, berms, check dams, hay bales, or similar devices shall be used to reduce runoff velocity and erosion.
- 20. Sediment shall be contained when conditions are too extreme for treatment by surface protection. Temporary sediment traps, filter fabric fences, inlet protectors, vegetative filters and buffers, or settling basins shall be used to detain runoff water long enough for sediment particles to settle out.
- 21. Topsoil removed during construction shall be carefully stored and treated as an important resource. Berms shall be placed around topsoil stockpiles to prevent runoff during storm events.
- 22. An independent storm water inspector would be hired by the Tribe to ensure all NPDES permitting requirements are being implemented. The inspector will have authority to require construction contractors as well as their subcontractors to stop work until all aspects of the NPDES permit are implemented.

Operational Measures

23. Storm drains shall be equipped with silt and oil traps to remove oils, debris, and other pollutants. Storm drain inlets shall also be labeled "No Dumping—Drains to Streams and Rivers."

- 24. The parking lot shall be designed to allow storm water runoff to be directed to vegetative filter strips to help control sediment and to control non-point source pollution, where possible.
- 25. Permanent energy dissipaters shall be included for drainage outlets.
- 26. The Tribe shall create, utilize, and update as necessary a maintenance plan for all BMPs for erosion and sediment control. BMPs will be selected and installed according to guidelines in the State of California Stormwater Quality Handbook and/or Caltrans Stormwater Quality Handbook.
- B. The existing water pipeline connecting the project wells will be evaluated for compliance with the Uniform Building Code (UBC). Sections and components of the existing pipeline that do not meet UBC standard shall be retrofitted with components complying with the UBC, Division IV, which covers earthquake design.

6.2 WATER RESOURCES

- A. In compliance with the Clean Water Act, the Tribe shall apply for coverage under the USEPA's NPDES GCP. In compliance with permitting requirements, the Tribe shall develop a SWPPP that shall address water quality impacts associated with construction and operation of the project. These measures are identified in Section 6.1.
- B. An NPDES permit shall be obtained for discharge of treated effluent into the Waters of the United States.
- C. As part of the overall water sampling and monitoring program for the WWTP a spray field monitoring plan shall be developed and implemented to ensure potential tail water is being captured and that no tail water is discharged to surface waters. The monitoring plan will include, but not be limited to the following:
 - 1. Water from spray field drift shall not migrate out of the spray field boundary.
 - 2. All tail water and/or stormwater shall be collected and returned to the WWTP holding pond at all times when water is being applied to the spray disposal field.
 - 3. The Tribe shall use the spray fields only during periods of dry weather. The Tribe will not use the spray fields 24 hours prior to a forecasted rain event and will wait 24 hours after the rain event to return to spray field operation.
 - A tail water capture system will be operated to capture all waste water runoff, as well as stormwater runoff that occurs 24 hours after the last application of wastewater to the spray fields.
 - The spray fields shall not be operated during periods of high winds exceeding 30 mph.
 - A controlled 100-foot buffer shall be maintained around the spray field operating area.

D. The Tribe shall develop and implement a groundwater-monitoring program in consultation with the BIA. The purpose of the program shall be to monitor groundwater levels to determine if the Tribe's groundwater pumping practices are significantly affecting an off-site user of groundwater. In order to monitor groundwater levels the Tribe shall equip a number of existing wells on the Plymouth Parcels as monitoring wells. These wells shall not be used for groundwater supply. The Tribe shall develop additional monitoring wells if it is later determined that the developed monitoring wells are insufficient. Should off-site monitoring wells be developed, the Tribe shall ensure compliance with the State of California Department of Public Health requirements for well development and the California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 74-90: California Well Standards. A long-term monitoring plan shall be developed and shall include the siting, design and installation of monitoring wells appropriately placed between the Project wells and the nearest off-site wells, taking into consideration the topography, geology, hydrogeology, pump rates of offsite users, and planned future development. The monitoring plan shall identify the number of monitoring wells, the frequency and duration of monitoring, reporting requirements, and the selection of contractors to conduct the monitoring and prepare monitoring reports. Baseline groundwater elevations and water quality data would then be collected. This would be performed during the facility design and construction stage to allow for the monitoring to encompass an entire hydrogeologic cycle. In addition, variances to the baseline values along with "not to exceed" values would be established to ensure there are no significant impacts to offsite well owners.

If it is determined that off-site wells are significantly affected by the Tribe's pumping practices, the Tribe shall undertake one or more of the following measures:

- The Tribe may alter its groundwater-pumping regime. This may include increasing the resting period or decreasing pumping rate of individual wells.
- 2. The Tribe may pay for an off-site user's well to be drilled deeper in order to recover pre-project consumptive use that was reduced or lost as the result of the Tribe's pumping practice. The determination regarding whether the groundwater user's pre-project consumptive use is reasonably determined to have been reduced or lost as the result of the Tribe's groundwater pumping practice shall be made by an engineer retained by the Tribe.
- 3. The Tribe may pay for the development of a new well to replace an off-site user's existing well that is no longer able to supply pre-project consumptive use as the result of the Tribe's pumping practice or financially compensate the impacts to the well owner through mutual agreement.
- 4. The Tribe may replace the water used by off-site user that is lost as the result of the Tribe's pumping practice through the import of water via tanker truck or, if practical, through the development of a connection to the municipal system.
- 5. The Tribe may selectively recharge portions of the basin impacted by the Tribe's wells.

- The Tribe may decrease the project's reliance on groundwater and increase the importation of water via tanker truck.
- E. The three wells for obtaining groundwater shall be pumped in rotation to allow for recharge of the aquifer.
- F. The following additional conservation measures shall be implemented by the Tribe to further reduce water usage:
 - Checking steam traps and ensuring return of steam condensate to boiler for reuse.
 - 2. Planting of drought resistant landscaping.
 - 3. Limiting boiler blowdown and adjusting for optimal water usage.
 - 4. Using low flow faucets and/or aerators in casino and hotel.
 - 5. Using low flow showerheads in hotel.
 - 6. Encouraging voluntary towel re-use by hotel guests.
 - 7. Using pressure washers and water brooms instead of hoses for cleaning.
 - 8. Using garbage disposal on-demand in restaurant.
 - Incorporating a re-circulating cooling loop for water cooled refrigeration and ice machines in restaurants.
 - 10. Serving water to customers on request at restaurant.
- G. A sampling and monitoring program for the WWTP shall be developed and implemented with oversight by USEPA in accordance with the Clean Water Act. Treated effluent shall be monitored to determine the efficacy of the treatment process and to assure compliance with the NPDES permit.

6.3 AIR QUALITY

Construction Impacts

- A. The Tribe will follow USEPA, Region 9, reporting and operating requirements in compliance with the National Emissions Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) for asbestos as regulated under the Federal Clean Air Act.
- B. The Tribe shall control emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), NOx sulfur oxides (SOx), and CO whenever reasonable and practicable by requiring all diesel-powered equipment be properly maintained and minimize idle time to 5 minutes when construction equipment is not in use, unless per engine manufacturer's specifications or for safety reasons more time is required. Since these emissions would be generated primarily by construction equipment, machinery engines shall be kept in good mechanical condition to minimize exhaust emissions.